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  For Dillon, Harper, Kaia, and Wyatt




  Chase your dream









  If you’ll give me your attention,




  I’ll see what I can do,




  In relating circumstances




  About myself and crew.




  We watch the coast for vessels,




  That may drive upon the lee,




  And that’s what Uncle Sam expects




  Of these boys and me.




  —JAMES EDWARD GOLDTHWAIT, KEEPER


  FLETCHERS NECK LIFE-SAVING STATION (1879–1886)
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  Orientation




  Fletchers Neck




  (Latitude 43° 26' 34" / Longitude 70° 20' 34")




  This river is named the Shawakotoc, and is half a mile broad.




  —MARTIN PRING (1603)1




  



  Pendleton to Fletcher




  Know all men by these presents that I Bryan Pendleton of Winter Harbor in the County of Yorke, for the entire affection that I bear unto my Grandson (now my adopted son) Pendleton Fletcher, have freely & absolutely given granted & by these presents do give & grant unto him the said Pendleton Fletcher & to his heirs for ever, all my neck of Land on which I now live extending as far as the Mill (May 25, 1671).




  Fletcher to Hussey




  I, Pendleton Fletcher of Biddeford in the County of York within Province of the Massachusetts Bay in New England, Yeoman, for and in consideration of the sum of fourteen hundred pounds lawful money of the New England to me in Hand before the unsealing hereof well & truly paid by Batchelor Hussey of Sherburn in the County of Nantucket in the Province aforesaid, Yeoman, the receipt whereof I do hereby acknowledge & my self therewith fully satisfied contented & paid Have given granted bargained & sold & do by these presents give grant bargain & sell unto him the said Batchelor Hussey his heirs and assigns forever one moiety or half part of all that Neck or peninsula of land commonly called Pendletons Neck lying & being in the township of Biddeford (April 20, 1737).
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  A contemporary chart illustrating the location of Fletchers Neck and Biddeford Pool (1970s). The entrance to the Saco River (upper left side, between the rock jetties) is surrounded by islands and dangerous ledges. Wood Island and Stage Island offer shelter for vessels in Wood Island Harbor (previously called Winter Harbor), while at the same time creating a hazardous passage. The village of Biddeford Pool is located on the peninsula protruding into Saco Bay at the center of the chart. The Pool, just to the west of the Neck, is filled when the incoming tide pours through a small opening called “the gut,” approximately fifty yards wide. When the tide retreats, the Pool nearly empties, forming a tidal marsh around its perimeter.




  US DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE




  
THE LAY OF THE LAND





  By the beginning of the eighteenth century, the land along the Saco River, from its mouth to the falls, roughly three miles inland, had become sparsely settled by Englishmen, many of them likely hailing from the town of Biddeford, England. Sawmills established near the falls around this time produced an abundance of lumber which was floated down the river to the Gulf of Maine, where it was loaded onto vessels that would carry it to markets along the Atlantic coast and Europe. The small fishing village that formed near the harbor at the mouth of the Saco River was well situated to benefit from the opportunities provided by both the natural abundance of the sea and the growing lumber trade.




  In 1671, Pendleton Fletcher, then age fourteen, inherited from his grandfather a “Necke of Land . . . extending as fare as the Mill, together with two Yslands, commonly called Wood Ysland and Gibbines Ysland.”2 Today Wood Island retains the same name, but Gibbines Ysland has become Stage Island, and the Neck of Land is called Fletchers Neck.




  In 1734, another Pendleton Fletcher, grandson of the original grantee, deeded one-half of “the Neck,” approximately one hundred acres, to Batchelor Hussey, likely in settlement of a debt. Hussey had recently come to the area from his home on Nantucket, and by 1738 had built a home on his newly acquired property. His grandson Christopher later turned the home into an inn, calling it the Mansion House. As a result, he earned a reputation for pioneering the hotel business at the Pool and opening it as a gateway to becoming a summer vacation destination.




  Throughout the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, maritime commerce in northern New England increased as the harbors at Portsmouth and Falmouth (later Portland) gained in significance. Winter Harbor, the name given to the anchorage at the mouth of the Saco River, assumed an increasingly important role. In the middle of the first decade of 1800, a lighthouse was established on Wood Island to safely guide mariners around the area’s navigational hazards. As a result, the harbor was increasingly being referred to as Wood Island Harbor.




  By the mid-nineteenth century, and especially in the years following the trauma of the Civil War, Biddeford Pool and Fletchers Neck flourished as a thriving harbor, a fishing port, and a watering hole for
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    Muddy roads lead toward the village of Biddeford Pool in 1866.




    COLLECTION OF THE MCARTHUR LIBRARY
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    Men work splitting fish at the landing, Biddeford Pool, circa 1880. Others repair lobster traps nearby.




    PHOTOGRAPH BY BALDWIN COOLIDGE / COLLECTION OF THE MCARTHUR LIBRARY




  vacationers from New England and the Midwest. And, as economic activity and the population increased, so did marine disasters.




  Early in the decade of the 1870s, the United States Congress authorized the expansion of the United States Life-Saving Service and provided funding for six new stations in northern New England. One of the first was to be built at the small fishing village called Fletchers Neck. Situated near the mouth of the Saco River and standing guard over Wood Island Harbor, its location between the busy docks at Portsmouth, New Hampshire, and Portland, Maine, made it a sensible choice. The decision was made even more logical considering the location’s rugged shoreline, with rocky beaches that give way to hidden ledges and small, low-lying islands. During the nineteenth century this stretch of ocean had earned the reputation as being one of the four most dangerous passages along the coast of Maine.
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    The village of Biddeford Pool mid-nineteenth century.




    COLLECTION OF THE MCARTHUR LIBRARY




  Late in December of 1874, the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station officially embarked on its first active season. Six “surfmen” made up the crew charged with protecting this treacherous transit. In charge was a “keeper,” respectfully called “Captain” by his subordinates. The keeper during the Station’s inaugural years was William M. Hussey, the great-great-great-grandson of Batchelor Hussey. One of the Station’s surfmen enlisted in that same first year was named Simeon E. Bunker, the grandson of Batchelor Bunker, one of the early property owners on Fletchers Neck. Three years later, in 1877, as another active season was about to begin, George Fletcher signed on as surfman. Fletcher was a distant descendant of the man whose name to this day marks the location of one of the first Life-Saving Stations to be established in Maine.




  The familiar family names of these three men emphasize the important interconnection between the Life-Saving Service and the village itself. For the forty years of the Station’s independent existence, the story of the Fletchers Neck Life-Saving Station was intertwined with the growth and development of the village of Biddeford Pool.




  General Superintendent Kimball’s explicit intention in developing the organization was to enlist the services of locals—resident mariners and fishermen confident in their skills and familiar with the distinctive nature of their surroundings. The community of Biddeford Pool was rightfully proud of its husbands, sons, and fathers, who were called to employment at the Fletchers Neck Station. The heroic service of these “surfmen,” sometimes called “Storm Warriors,” was followed closely by their neighbors. Their successes were a reflection on their families as well as their community.




  Throughout the late nineteenth century, improvements in technology brought significant changes to the character of Biddeford Pool and notably affected the mission of the Life-Saving Service. Eventually, these transformations, taking place over an unexpectedly short period of time, forced organizational adjustments. By 1915 the United States Life-Saving Service was merged with the United States Revenue Cutter Service and restructured as the United States Coast Guard.




  The United States Life-Saving Service has been the subject of broad investigations, but no book has taken on the story of a single station. The story of the Fletchers Neck Life-Saving Station has been gleaned from local newspapers, the Station’s logbooks, the official records of the Life-Saving Service, and the papers and memories of involved families. It is a tale of men at odds with the fury of nature—men who subscribed to the motto “You have to go out but you don’t have to come back.” From 1874 until 1915, the “Storm Warriors” of the Fletchers Neck Life-Saving Service and the citizens of the Village of Biddeford Pool shared a common history. It is the purpose of this book to examine how their two stories are intricately bound together.
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    A 1910 panorama view of a section of Biddeford Pool. In the distance the Ocean View Hotel looks out over the rocky shoreline of Saco Bay and the Gulf of Maine.
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  CHAPTER 1




  Beginnings




  In 1848, the government placed a few rude huts that formed the nucleus from which the United States Life-Saving Service has been developed.1




  —JOHN H. MERRYMAN




   



  The Wreck of the Charles (1807)




  Today the headstone recalls one of southern Maine’s most “melancholy and distressing” disasters. It reads:




  Sacred to the memory of Miss Lydia Carver of Freeport Age 24, Who with 15 other unfortunate passengers, male and female, perished in the merciless waves, by the shipwreck of the schooner Charles, bound from Boston to Portland, on a reef of rocks near the shore of Richmond’s Island on Sunday night, July 12, 1807.




  When the schooner struck the ledges on Richmond Island that foggy Sunday at midnight, the bilging hull was close enough to the rocky shore to run out a plank allowing four of its passengers and crew to escape. Nevertheless, before help arrived, nearly eight hours following the disaster, sixteen of the twenty-two souls on board had perished.




  The waves pounded the Charles against the jagged outcropping, and it soon began to break apart. Seas poured into the ship and the masts fell, injuring some passengers and crew, while others were disabled by debris flying from the rigging. Panicked and incapacitated, many were washed out to sea. Among them was the young bride-to-be, Lydia Carver, returning from Boston with her trousseau, who perished on the eve of her wedding. Ironically, the victims were less than fifty feet from land.




  To this day it is said that the “ghost bride,” Lydia Carver, still haunts the shores of Saco Bay.




  




  
SHIPWRECKS AND THE FATE OF SURVIVORS





  By any measure, the seventy-four-gun French warship Magnifique was equal to its name. In 1782, under her commander, Captain Brach, the 170-foot French ship-of-the-line, carrying a complement of 650 battle-tested sailors and marines, was bound for Boston Harbor. In support of America’s War for Independence, the Magnifique had recently engaged the British near the islands of Grenada and Martinique in the Caribbean and was rumored to be carrying a significant treasure in her hold.
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    The French warship Magnifique would have looked very much like this eighteenth-century French ship-of-the-line, the Robuste.
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  As the Magnifique neared the entrance to the harbor, she brought on board an American pilot named David Darling, who was charged with steering the warship through the Narrows, a treacherous ten-mile stretch leading between Georges and Lovells Islands. The dangerous, rocky terrain around the island that had led to so many mishaps in the past again proved to be too much even for a seasoned pilot. On August 15, 1782, the French warship was added to the list of the many other vessels that to this day clutter the bottom of that menacing passage into Boston’s infamous harbor.




  A few years later, in the midst of a Massachusetts winter, another tragedy unfolded when a vessel traveling from Maine struck an obstruction along that same perilous route leading into Boston Harbor. Thirteen passengers were able to survive the wreck itself, but following their escape from the vessel, they became stranded on Lovells Island. Blizzard-like conditions accompanied the freezing temperatures, and all thirteen perished. The bodies of two of the luckless survivors, which were later discovered together behind a rock, gave rise to a romantic legend that to this day has resulted in the location being designated as “Lover’s Rock.”




  For eighteenth-century sailors, navigating the shipping lane into Boston Harbor was an extremely dangerous challenge. Even in an era when shipwrecks were a part of life, the tragedies that unfolded near Lovells Island toward the end of that century helped to inspire the citizens of Boston to come together to form a “humane society.” Modeled on an effort in London dedicated to saving the victims of shipwrecks, the idea that took hold in 1786 became formally known as the Humane Society of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. In the year following its founding, members of the Society undertook the construction of primitive huts along the passages deemed to be most threatening. These “houses of refuge” were stocked with dry clothing, blankets, food, water, matches, and firewood—items deemed necessary to survive a tempestuous winter night along the unforgiving New England coast.2




  Over the course of the next fifty years the Humane Society became more and more ambitious, building additional unmanned huts. The group also set about constructing lifeboat stations, structures occasionally manned by volunteers and large enough to store a rescue boat. By 1806 there were eighteen of these life-saving structures maintained along the Massachusetts coast.3




  Prior to 1848, then, the business of life-saving among the maritime community was largely undertaken by private charitable organizations. In August of 1848, at the urging of congressman William A. Newell of New Jersey, the federal government appropriated $10,000 in order to provide “surf-boats, rockets, carronades, and other necessary apparatus, for the better preservation of life and property from shipwrecks on the coast lying between Sandy Hook and Little Egg Harbor.” The legislation authorized the building of eight unmanned, volunteer lifeboat stations along the New Jersey coast and appointed the United States Revenue-Marine as the agency best suited to supervise the undertaking. Further funding over the next several years resulted in the construction and operation of additional stations along the shipping lanes leading to the busy ports of Boston and New York. By 1854 a total of 137 life-saving huts had been established along the Mid-Atlantic and Massachusetts coastline.4
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    An unmanned “relief hut” like the one pictured here illustrates the earliest type of life-saving station.
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    An undated photograph shows a three-masted schooner ashore near the beach in the Mid-Atlantic. Navigation by dead reckoning required sailing close to shore and within danger of shifting bars and hidden rocky ledges. The rescue team has used a horse to pull the life-saving apparatus down to the water’s edge.




    UNKNOWN SOURCE




  Navigation during the early to mid-nineteenth century required that sea captains largely determined their position by “dead reckoning.” This meant that vessels like the Charles needed to be close enough to shore to distinguish the familiar landmarks that would guide their way. Whether it was the rocky ledges near the shores of northern New England or the gradually sloping shoreline with its endlessly shifting sandbars along the shipping lanes of the Mid-Atlantic, even experienced navigators could be taken by surprise. Ironically, shipwrecked victims caught in the characteristically powerful winter storms of the North Atlantic, like those stranded on Lovells Island, often were able to make their way to shore only to succumb to the brutal conditions that resulted from being immersed in the icy sea and later stranded on a desolate and unpopulated shoreline.




  
SUMNER INCREASE KIMBALL: A BETTER SOLUTION





  Despite provisions in the legislation of 1848 appropriating funding that would furnish each station with life-saving apparatus, it appears that there was little or no proper supervision to manage these installations. Consequently, looters and vandals carried away many of the articles and destroyed and damaged others. In too many cases lack of care allowed necessary apparatus to become rusty and unusable. To remedy this situation, the Congress passed legislation in December 1854, authorizing salaries for district superintendents and local keepers who would guard against theft and take responsibility for maintenance at the various locations. Nevertheless, an attitude of “indifference“ persisted. The result was that well-intentioned appropriations were often diverted or went unspent.5




  [image: chpt_fig_005]


    Throughout its forty-year existence as an independent agency, Sumner Increase Kimball was the driving force behind the United States Life-Saving Service.
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  The situation was of sufficient concern to cause the secretary of the treasury to undertake an investigation into the true state of affairs of each of the stations then in existence on both coasts. The report, which was filed on January 22, 1872, revealed an appalling lack of care and attention given to the nation’s life-saving effort. Captain John Faunce, who directed the project, “found that most of the stations were too remote from each other, and that the houses were much dilapidated, many being so far gone as to be worthless, and the remainder in need of extensive repairs and enlargement.” Furthermore, they were much neglected, misused, and generally in a filthy condition. The necessary apparatus was found to be rusty, ruined, and in too many cases, totally lacking. No station was found to be fully outfitted. The report went on: “Some of the keepers were too old for active service, others lived too far from their stations, and few of them were really competent in their positions.” Politics clearly played a more important role in influencing appointments than did adequate qualifications.6




  The power of the revelations pointing to undisciplined and inadequate supervision was amplified by disasters along the Atlantic coast during the winter of 1870–1871. This intersection of factors in turn resulted in the reorganization of the entire service under Sumner I. Kimball, a Maine lawyer who previously headed the Treasury Department’s Revenue-Marine Division. Accompanying the reforms instituted by the new superintendent, congressional actions in 1873 and 1874 resulted in the expansion of the geographical reach of the life-saving program. Twenty-one new stations were to be constructed along the Atlantic coast. Five of these were to be established in Maine, with one of them tasked with guarding the western end of Saco Bay—first called the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station. On June 1, 1883, it became known as the Fletchers Neck Life-Saving Station.7
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  CHAPTER 2




  Shoving Off




  



  The Schooner Intrepid (1872)




  By eight p.m. on Tuesday evening, Christmas Eve 1872, the mercury dipped to 15 degrees below zero. In Saco Bay the mist hanging over the entrance to Winter Harbor was so thick that the lack of visibility created enough uncertainty to cause three vessels to go ashore on Beach Island, just five hundred yards to the east of Biddeford Pool. Apparently, they all became disoriented and confused the light on Wood Island with the beacon on Cape Elizabeth, ten miles to the north. One of the three vessels was originally thought to include the schooner Credit from Portland, but was later determined to be the Intrepid. Two of the three ships suffered some damage to their keels but were eventually floated and taken to the Pool. The Intrepid, on the other hand, rapidly sank and came to rest in about thirty feet of water.




  Two years before the construction and operation of the Life-Saving Station, the citizens of Biddeford Pool were reported to have gone to the rescue of the captain and crew of the Intrepid on that holiday evening in December. As the well-intentioned rescuers approached the schooner, they discovered a crew of three in addition to the master and his wife and child. They also learned to their dismay that the woman had smallpox. According to local lore, the rescue boats immediately turned around and headed back to shore, not willing to take the risk posed by the deadly, disfiguring disease.




  Their consciences eventually won out, however, and some folks from the Pool returned and were able to transport the master, his family, and the crew to nearby Wood Island. There, according to Inspector Mayo of the Lighthouse Service, the keeper, Albert Norwood, while assisting the woman to remove her shawl, “discovered from her odor and scars that she had the smallpox. The light keeper caused the husband instantly to place her on a hand sled and they drew her to a house about half a mile from the light used as a picnic place in the summer season.” Both the Intrepid’s captain and his wife survived the ordeal, as did Keeper Norwood, his family, and the three crew members.




  




  The keeper commands the crew of six surfmen. His position is one of grave responsibility demanding long experience in his vocation and rare judgment in the execution of his important trusts.1




  —JOHN H. MERRYMAN




  A NEED FULFILLED





  Responses to maritime mishaps in northern New England during the nineteenth century, like the disaster that struck the Intrepid, were generally left to chance. Because shipwrecks often occurred in sight of the shore, rescue attempts often fell into the hands of residents or other Good Samaritans who happened to be nearby. As was the case with the Intrepid, the success of this venture depended on the willingness—as well as the ability—of locals to proceed with the endeavor.
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    Article reporting the Intrepid and two other vessels that went ashore on Wood Island exposing the Keeper and his family to smallpox.




    THE PRESS (PORTLAND), FRIDAY, DECEMBER 27, 1872, P. 1




  The winter of 1870–1871, one year before the Intrepid incident, proved to be an especially disastrous one for commercial shipping along the Eastern Seaboard of the United States. The details of these tragedies and the revelations which followed prompted the reforms introduced by General Superintendent Kimball and ultimately led to an expansion of the Life-Saving Service. In March of 1873, Congress approved funding for additional stations along the coast of Maine and New Hampshire. The sites selected were:






	West Quoddy Head, Maine




	Cross Island, Maine




	Browney’s Island, Maine




	Whitehead Island, Maine




	Biddeford Pool, Maine




	Straw’s Point (Rye Beach), New Hampshire
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    The Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station circa 1875. Curiously, the structure was built parallel to the shoreline with the boathouse door facing away from the sea.




    COLLECTION OF THE BIDDEFORD POOL COMMUNITY HISTORICAL SOCIETY




  
THE STATION AT BIDDEFORD POOL





  The six stations established in Maine and New Hampshire were designated as belonging to District 1, to be supervised by a district superintendent, who, in 1876, earned $1,000 per year. Each station in turn was overseen by a “keeper” who would tend the facility year-round and oversee a crew of six surfmen. His salary was pegged at $200 per year. Each surfman would serve during an active season lasting six months during the harshest time of year and be paid a wage of $40 per month. In District 1 the season was to begin on November 1 and last until the end of April of the following spring.




  In 1874, the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station was among the first of the posts built in District 1. All six of the original facilities were constructed following a single plan most likely developed by Francis W. Chandler (1844–1926). And although there was some decorative variation permitted, each of the small, nineteen-by-forty-three-foot, one-anda-half-story structures took on a very similar look.




  The first level featured a large opening protected by a pair of doors accessed by a ramp intended to facilitate the movement of a one-thousand-pound lifeboat, which was stored along with its carriage in a ready position directly behind the entryway. Above the doorway was a gabled roof with a dramatic overhang featuring a wooden arch framing two windows directly behind it. On either side of the arch were two triangular, ornamental supports with a carved serpent in the center. Excepting for the large doorway, which instead hosted two windows, this facade was duplicated on the back (or northwest) side of the building.




  Attached to the southwest side of the structure was an equipment shed. In the center of the roof on the main structure was a square, fenced-in platform that functioned as a lookout station accessible by a stairway leading up from the second level. A small brick chimney stood behind the lookout at the rear of the building. A covered entryway toward the rear on the northeast side likely functioned as a mudroom, offering a place for coat and boot storage.2




  The interior of the station was divided into two horizontal sections on both the upper and lower stories. On the ground floor, behind the lifeboat storage area, was a general-purpose area used as a kitchen, mess, and sitting room when the surfmen were off duty. The upper floor contained an area sectioned off for the storage of personal items and smaller pieces of equipment. Toward the rear was a small room intended as a dormitory / bunk room for the men during their six months of duty.3
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    Lobster pots clutter the beach in front of the original station—an indication that the surfmen continued fishing even while attending to their life-saving duties.
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    A doorway on the second floor divided the space into a bunk room (front) and storage area (rear).




    AUTHOR’S PERSONAL COLLECTION




  
THE STATION’S FIRST KEEPER





  When General Superintendent Kimball made it clear that a new station would be established at Biddeford Pool, the residents hastily circulated a petition requesting the appointment of William M. Hussey to be the first keeper. Their collective signatures evidently proved to be sufficiently compelling, and Hussey was made keeper of the new station at Fletchers Neck, in those early years called the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station.4
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    Mansion House, circa 1880, where William Hussey, the Station’s first keeper, spent his teenage years.




    COLLECTION OF THE BIDDEFORD POOL COMMUNITY HISTORICAL SOCIETY




  At the time of his appointment on October 16, 1874, William M. Hussey was just four days shy of his fifty-third birthday and a representative of one of the oldest and most storied families in the area of Saco Bay. His grandfather, Christopher Hussey Sr., had been the owner of Mansion House and was credited with pioneering the inn and hotel tradition that characterized Biddeford Pool throughout the mid- to late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. When the senior Christopher Hussey passed away in 1834, ownership of the inn was transferred to his son, Christopher Hussey Jr., the uncle of the Life-Saving Station’s first keeper. It would be difficult to overstate the popularity of the owners of Mansion House. The hospitality which they extended to their guests has become the stuff of legends, and the family name has always been highly respected.5




  The young man who would eventually become the first keeper of the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station lost his father, Paul Hussey, to a drowning incident in the Saco River when the boy was just eleven years old. Consequently, he and his family made Mansion House their home, and were cared for by William’s uncle, Christopher Jr.




  As an adult, the future keeper took to the sea as a fisherman, where, by all indications, he did quite well. A newspaper report just two years prior to his appointment to the Life-Saving Station tells us that “three schooners to be used for the coastwise fishing trade are being built at Kennebunk for persons residing at Biddeford Pool. These vessels have an average cost of about $2,000. One of the schooners is owned by William Hussey; while the others are owned in common by several other parties.”6




  Hussey’s five years as keeper of the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station began a period of nearly fifteen years when the Station’s supervision would be overseen by members of the same extended family.




  On July 22, 1843, William Hussey was married to Mary Elizabeth Goldthwait. Then, when Hussey left his post as keeper in 1879, his place was taken by James Edward Goldthwait, Mary Elizabeth’s brother, and the husband of Sylvina Hussey, William’s cousin. Keeper Goldthwait was in charge of the Station for seven years, from 1879 to 1886. He in turn was replaced by Fitz William Hussey, the son of the first keeper. Clearly the Fletchers Neck Life-Saving Station during the years of 1874 through 1890 bore the imprint of the Hussey/Goldthwait clan, and could certainly be characterized as a “family affair.”




  On Thursday, March 2, 1876, thick weather and snow were reported when Keeper William Hussey, now in his second full year, alerted his crew of six surfmen who scrambled to the assistance of the stranded schooner George Osborne. The forty-seven-ton vessel laden with $500 worth of meal was on a course for Rockland, Maine, from Salem, Massachusetts, when, at three a.m., she struck at high tide on the north side of Negro Island, one and a half miles from the Station.




  The crew launched the surfboat at seven a.m., and a half-hour later, they were boarding the wreck. Following two trips back and forth as they removed the vessel’s victims, the life-savers determined that the Osborne’s keel had split and the bottom was “stove in.” Likely, wrote the keeper, the Osborne “will be sold at auction and broke up.” The three-man crew was afforded shelter for three days, and the cargo, though saved, was in a damaged condition. The schooner, however, valued at $3,500, was a total loss.7




  Just over two months after bringing his crew together for the first time, William M. Hussey was still finding his way as the first keeper of the Biddeford Pool Life-Saving Station. Although District Superintendent Richardson and Inspector Merryman had visited the Station and offered instruction to both the surfmen and their keeper, Hussey’s logbook in these first few weeks seems to suggest some uncertainty as to how much detail to incorporate into his reports. His reporting of the George Osborne, for example, follows what appears to be a general outline of what to routinely include. On this occasion, Hussey’s account of the wreck informs us that






   No persons were resuscitated from drowning or cold




  Mortar and rockets not used




  No shot or rockets used




  No damage to boat or other apparatus




  All hands saved . . . 3 all told




  3 persons were afforded shelter







  During the five years of Keeper Hussey’s tenure, the crew was called to the assistance of twenty vessels in distress. One of these, the schooner Oregon, provides a notable case study and an unusual coincidence.




  In March 1878, one year before his retirement, Hussey reported that during severe squalls the lime schooner Oregon had dragged her anchors and stranded on the southeast side of the entrance to Biddeford Pool. The keeper was advised of the situation and mustered the crew. “Not deeming it advisable to launch the surf boat,” he wrote, “as we should have to pull
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    Keeper Hussey’s logbook resembled a journal in the years immediately following the Station’s opening. Here, he summarizes the wreck report following the grounding of the schooner George Osborne on Negro Island in 1876.




    AUTHOR’S PERSONAL COLLECTION / LOGBOOK FROM NARA, WALTHAM




  nearly one and one-half miles against a strong north wind and rough sea, we walked to the nearest point to the wreck, and took a boat belonging to one of the crew of the station and boarded the vessel.”




  The Station crew worked for two hours before finally removing the schooner without any damage and moving her to a safe anchorage. Captain Richardson of the Oregon expressed his gratitude for the assistance, claiming that had there been any delay, the vessel would have bilged, and her cargo been lost.8




  Following the active season of 1878–1879, the Station’s first keeper, William M. Hussey, resigned from the Life-Saving Service and was replaced by his brother-in-law, James Edward Goldthwait.
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